RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-21-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS Appeal No. 2015AP000953 OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HENRY J. BLOEDORN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING, DENYING DEFENDANTAPPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW DEFENDANT'S ALFORD PLEA DUE
TO INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

PERRY P. LIEUALLEN, LLC 200 E. Dekora Street Saukville, WI 53080

262-284-6966

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

By: Perry P. Lieuallen State Bar No. 1015094

STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT
I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT THE DEFENDANT TO WITHDRAW HIS ALFORD PLEA AS A RESULT OF COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE. 7
A. Applicable case law
B. Defense counsel failed to communicate or advise the Defendant regarding evidence, strategy or possible prison sentences
C. Defense counsel allowed a presentence investigation to continue as Defendant was withdrawing his plea and considering trial17
D. Defense counsel, after advising Defendant he was facing jail time and probation or up to three years in prison, failed to properly argue a reasonable prison sentence
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION
APPENDIX
APPENDIX CERTIFICATION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited:

Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985) 10, 24
Jeffrey Welton Nunes v. G.A. Mueller, 350 F.3d at 1053
Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751, (1983)
McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970). 7, 8
Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1407 (2012) 9
Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 57, (1932)10
Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 128 S.Ct 2578 (2008)10
Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 260 (1971)11
State v. Bentley, 201 Wis.2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)
State v. Harper, 57 Wis.2d 543, 205 N.W.2d 1 (1973). 23
State v. Johnson, 133 Wis.2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986)
State v. Rock, 92 Wis.2d 554, 558-59, 285 N.W.2d 739 (1979)
State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 59, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). 9,11,26
Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 266-69 (1973) 8
United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 102 n.5 (1976). 8
United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300, 309-10 (1973) 10

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not believed to be necessary in this case. The issues are matters of law which can be resolved by the briefs of the parties without the aid of oral argument and publication is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to permit the defendant to withdraw his Alford plea as a result of counsel's ineffective assistance.

Answer in the trial court: No.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 3, 2013, the defendant was charged in a criminal complaint with the following offenses: Count 1: repeated sexual assault of a child; Count 2: incest; and Count 3: child enticement. (R.1, App. A).

On February 12, 2014 the defendant entered a guilty plea to Count 1 and on motion of the State, Counts 2 and 3 were dismissed and read in. Court orders a presentence investigation be completed and the defendant was remanded

to the custody of the Ozaukee County Sheriff's Department.

On March 4, 2014 the defendant wrote directly to the court regarding his doubts about his legal representation and stated in his letter "not once has anyone shown me evidence." (R.25, App. B).

On March 6, 2014, the defendant again wrote directly to the court regarding his doubts about his legal representation and states "I still can't believe my lawyer Ken Kratz isn't doing more." (R.27, App. C).

On April 7, 2014, at the court hearing, the court read into the record the letters mentioned in the two previous paragraphs, and adjourned the case to April 8, 2014.

On April 8, 2014, at the court hearing, Attorney Ken Kratz requested sentencing be continued for approximately one month and the court adjourned sentencing for defendant to consider if he wishes to withdraw his plea; court schedules jury trial for May 6, 2014 and jury status hearing for May 2, 2014.

On April 10, 2014, the State of Wisconsin filed their Witness List, and on May 1, 2014, filed their proposed jury instructions. Attorney Kratz never filed any witness list

or jury instructions.

On May 2, 2014, defendant entered an Alford Plea to Count 1; ordered Counts 2 and 3 dismissed and read in and adjourned sentencing to May 6, 2014.

On May 6, 2014 after counsel statements, the Court sentenced defendant as follows: "And so I'm going to sentence you to 25 years, with 20 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision." (R.71, page 43, App. D).

On October 21, 2014, defendant filed Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Alford Plea and on October 30, 2014, defendant filed his Defendant's Amended Motion to Withdraw Alford Plea. On March 12, 2015 Defendant's Amended Motion to Withdraw Alford Plea was heard and on April 22, 2015 the Court signed it's Order denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Defendant's Alford Plea. (R.68, App. E).

Defendant's Notice of Appeal was filed on May 8, 2015. (R.69)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 30, 2013, a child forensic examiner employed by the Child Protection Center of Children's Hospital interviewed the alleged minor victim in this case, hereinafter referred to as NTK, who stated that between the dates when NTK was 11 years of age and 14 years of age, he was molested by his grandfather, who he identified as the Defendant. NTK also informed the forensic examiner that the defendant had images of NTK and defendant engaged in sexual relations. That defendant was subsequently arrested and the Ozaukee County District Attorney's office filed its criminal complaint on September 3, 2013.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT
 THE DEFENDANT TO WITHDRAW HIS ALFORD PLEA AS
 A RESULT OF COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE.
 - A. Applicable case law

"[T]he right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970).

In McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 7768-71 (1970), the court observed that whether defense counsel provided adequate representation, in advising a guilty plea, depended not on whether a court would retrospectively consider his advice right or wrong "but on whether that advise was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." See also Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 266-69 (1973); United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 102 n.5 (1976). In the instant case, Defendant-Appellant Henry J. Bloedorn (hereinafter referred to as "H. Bloedorn") questions his counsel's competence. H. Bloedorn believes Attorney Ken Kratz (hereinafter referred to as "Kratz"), did not only inadequately represent him, no proper communication regarding his alternatives were properly explained to him, any strategy he may have had right from the beginning was never fully discussed and agreed to between them.

A defendant may withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing upon a showing of "manifest injustice" by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Rock, 92 Wis.2d 554, 558-59, 285 N.W.2d 739 (1979). Rock recognized that the "manifest injustice" requirement is met if the defendant was denied

the effective assistance of counsel. Id

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) that his counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that such performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. At 687-88. establish prejudice, a defendant must show that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. At 694. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Id. Prejudice in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim "should be assessed based on the cumulative effect of counsel's deficiencies." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 59, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

The Sixth Amendment demands effective assistance of counsel during the pretrial and plea bargaining process.

Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1407 (2012). When a defendant enters his plea upon the advice of counsel, the "deficient performance" requirement of Strickland is

satisfied if he shows that the advice he relied on in entering his guilty plea was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). To satisfy the prejudice requirement of Strickland in the context of a case that resulted in a plea, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unreasonable advice, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill 474 U.S. at 59.

Although historically the core purpose of the right to counsel was to assure assistance at trial, over time the Court has recognized that this assistance would be less meaningful if it were limited to the formal trial itself.

United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300, 309-10 (1973). As a result, the Supreme Court has consistently held that the right to effective counsel attaches during all critical stages of the prosecution. Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 128 S.Ct 2578 (2008); Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 57, (1932). In particular, the Court in Powell v. Alabama concluded that pretrial arrangements could be "perhaps the most critical period of the proceedings." Powell, 287 U.S.

at 57.

Since plea-bargaining is an "essential component" Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 260 (1971) of the criminal process, a defendant's counsel has a duty to provide effective assistance during this stage. Strickland 466 U.S. at 688. This ensures that the defendant retains the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions, such as whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal. Jeffrey Welton Nunes v. G.A. Mueller, 350 F.3d at 1053, quoting Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751, (1983). When a defendant is denied effective assistance of counsel during plea bargaining, the right asserted is not the right to a plea bargain, or even the right to a fair trial, but rather the right to be properly informed before deciding his or her own fate. Id. ("Here the right that [the defendant] claims he lost was not the right to a fair trial or the right to a plea bargain, but the right to participate in the decision as to, and to decide, his own fate - a right also clearly found in Supreme Court law.")

B. Defense counsel failed to communicate or advise the Defendant regarding evidence, strategy or possible prison sentences.

Communication with H. Bloedorn was so limited that to say Kratz "represented" H. Bloedorn in the instant case would be completely overstating their relationship.

During the Machner hearing Kratz described his various meetings with H. Bloedorn and the fact that H. Bloedorn's wife, Laura A. Bloedorn (hereinafter referred to as "L. Bloedorn"), was with H. Bloedorn during many of those meetings. Specifically, Kratz describes a meeting he had with both H. Bloedorn and L. Bloedorn on October 14, 2013 as follows:

"Q All right. Then on October 14, was that a meeting with Mr. Bloedorn and his wife?

A It was. October $14^{\rm th}$ was a very, very extensive long meeting where we developed our initial defense strategy..." (R. 88, Page 57, App. F).

Again during the Machner hearing Kratz describes another meeting, very briefly, that happened on October 30, 2013 as follows:

"A Actually the discussion about his agreement to what he said in the interview being accurate was made to me on October 30th. That was my next meeting with Mr. Bloedorn. That was a meeting that was almost specifically directed towards the evidence and directed towards whether I was going to file a Fifth or Sixth Amendment challenge to Mr. Bloedorn's statements.

Q And that's - okay. So the next time you met with him was October $30^{\rm th}$?

A Yes."

(R. 88, Page 60, App. G).

L. Bloedorn also testified at the *Machner* hearing and she described the office meetings she attended with her husband in a very different manner. Throughout her testimony L. Bloedorn refers to the shortness of the meetings and her frustration with the same. (R. 88, Pages 85-90, App. H). Particularly, L. Bloedorn was asked about her second meeting with H. Bloedorn and Kratz where H. Bloedorn's retainer was paid (R. 88, Page 85, Lines 7-14, App. H) wherein L. Bloedorn states the meeting was only five minutes at the most.

L. Bloedorn continues to describe a meeting on October 30^{th} where she dropped H. Bloedorn off so that he could have a private meeting with Kratz. She states that she dropped him off, went to McDonalds and was surprised that her husband called such a short time later to have her come back and pick him up as the meeting was over. She states (R.88, Page 86, Lines 3-7, App. H) that the meeting was no more than fifteen minutes, twenty minutes, at the most. L. Bloedorn continues to testify (R.88, Page 87, App. H) that she always answered the phone at her home as H. Bloedorn refused to, and that H. Bloedorn never spoke with Kratz on the phone and all meetings were arranged through L. Bloedorn. She continues to further testify (R.88, Page 87, App. H) that the meetings she arranged, and that she attended with H. Bloedorn before February 12, 2014, were never more than ten minutes, at the most. L. Bloedorn ends her testimony with a final statement reiterating again her frustration with the short meetings:

"Q And what was the longest meeting you had during any of the times you talked to him?

A Like I said, five minutes at the most. He doesn't -he didn't talk. I mean this is why I said he never

counseled anybody or us or anything. He was very tight-lipped or what do you call that? But I mean I just - I couldn't believe it personally. I was expecting always him to come forth, and he never did." (R.88, Page 90, Lines 15-23, App. H).

In regard to discussing any length of time for prison that H. Bloedorn was facing or that Kratz believed would be the end result if negotiated rather than trial, L. Bloedorn stated as follows:

"Q Did he ever tell you that he was going to recommend 15 years in and 15 years out -

A Never.

Q -- as a condition of probation?

A Never.

THE WITNESS: I only heard three, Your Honor. That's all he always said, Mr. Kratz, only three. All the way up to the end.

THE COURT: Okay."

(R.88, Page 90, Lines 6-14, App. H).

H. Bloedorn personally, in frustration over his lack of proper counsel, wrote directly to Judge Malloy on two occasions. In his letter dated March 2, 2014, (R.25, App. B) H. Bloedorn states at the end of his letter: "Not once has anyone shown me evidence." Again, in his letter two days later dated March 4, 2014 (R.27, App. C) H. Bloedorn states in the second paragraph: "I still can't believe my lawyer Ken Kratz isn't doing more. I have never been told or shown any evidence. Isn't that a part of case that the evidence comes out. Who is withholding my evidence."

As all of the meetings were short, according to L. Bloedorn's personal testimony, H. Bloedorn was right to feel that his attorney never properly communicated with him in regard to strategy, evidence or possible sentencing ramifications if he plead to the case. Without said proper communication, how could H. Bloedorn assist in his own defense?

C. Defense counsel allowed a presentence investigation to continue as Defendant was withdrawing his plea and considering trial.

On February 12, 2014, H. Bloedorn entered a guilty plea to Count 1 of the Criminal Complaint following the advice of his counsel. On February 13, 2014, the court ordered a pre-sentence investigation. A pre-sentence investigation generally consists of an interview with the defendant, a review of his or her criminal record, and a review of the specific facts of the crime, as well as interviews with the defendant and his significant others and, on occasion, may also include statements from the victim(s). The presentence investigation report is extremely important for the defendant in a case as it makes a recommendation to the court about the type and severity of the sentence.

On March 2 and 4 H. Bloedorn wrote to the Court (R.25 and 27, App. B and C) and on March 19, 2014 Kratz and the District Attorney's Office were forwarded copies of the exparte communication. At that moment, Kratz was fully aware that his client had made known not only to the Court, but to Kratz and the District Attorney's Office that he was uncertain and wavering in his decision to plead and was confused and uninformed regarding his case and, certainly,

any sentence he may be receiving. In H. Bloedorn's letter of March 4 he states "So far I still have not met with the P.S.I person." (R.27, App. C). Although Kratz indicates that he discussed the P.S.I. process throughout his representation (R.88, Pages 15 through 19, App. I), he never indicates any concern regarding H. Bloedorn's continuing to move forward with the P.S.I. after the receipt of the letters from H. Bloedorn indicating his confusion and reluctance with regard to his plea.

In L. Bloedorn's testimony at the *Machner* hearing, regarding the pre-sentence investigation report, she states:

- "Q Did you have occasion to look at the PSI, the presentence investigation?
- A Never. Never saw it.
- Q Were you ever told what was in it?
- A No, basically. I never saw it. Never.
- Q What was your understanding as to the length of time your husband was facing in jail?
- A I was I think I was told Mrs. Yolanda, she was very

nice. She said something like eight or nine years. That's what I was told, nine basically.

Q What about Mr. Kratz? Did you get any -

A No. He always said -"

(R.88, Pages 88 and 89, App. J).

Kratz, as evidenced above, allowed H. Bloedorn to complete a presentence investigation without proper guidance during the time period where H. Bloedorn indicated in his letters he was uncertain as to the evidence against him and the nature of his guilty plea. Kratz further compounded the multiple problems in this case by not requesting a supplemental presentence after H. Bloedorn entered an Alford plea. It is clear that the Judge, in sentencing, considered H. Bloedorn's failure to show proper remorse and take responsibility for his actions. It appears from a review of the entire case that H. Bloedorn never wished to plead guilty and wished to have a jury trial. It further appears that Kratz convinced H. Bloedorn that an Alford plea was not an admission of guilt and thus tainted the entire process.

D. Defense counsel, after advising Defendant he was facing jail time and probation or up to three years in prison, failed to properly argue a reasonable prison sentence.

The presentence investigation report recommended nine years in prison and infers that the recommendation is based on H. Bloedorn not showing the remorse or responsibility for his actions the author would have preferred to see.

(R.28). Although, as stated on page 15 of this brief, L. Bloedorn, when speaking with the presentence author was informed that nine years would be the recommendation, there is no evidence that Kratz ever thoroughly explained to H. Bloedorn what he was facing when he entered the court room on May 6, 2014.

Kratz stated various times in his testimony at the Machner hearing, that he discussed a strategy with his client. Most particularly in answering questions by Attorney Lieuallen as below:

"Q What did you tell him that you believed was likely that would happen in this court?

A I told him that this was a prison case; that if he was going to enter his plea, that our strategy, really from September when he hired me, was to convince the Court that

the necessity of sending Mr. Bloedorn to prison was not there in this case. I told Mr. Bloedorn really throughout, that since I've gone through my notes I've seen throughout my notes that an argument to the Court was going to be this is a prison case; however, we were -- "we" meaning the defense was going to ask for an imposed and stayed prison sentence with probation and up to a year in the county jail." (R.88, Page 13, App. K).

However, L. Bloedorn contends that never did Kratz say to her that the sentence H. Bloedorn was honestly facing was 9 years if the recommendation from the PSI was taken up to 40 years if the Court decided to sentence him to the maximum. Although the complaint states the maximum for Count 1, from the beginning according to L. Bloedorn's testimony, Kratz never expressed to either her or her husband in the numerous meetings she attended that H. Bloedorn would ever receive more than three years in prison. H. Bloedorn further expresses his confusion and lack of understanding in his letters to the Court.

Kratz, although as stated above, said he informed H. Bloedorn he would be asking for an imposed and stayed

prison sentence with probation, kept his client under the belief that the actual sentence would be no more than three years, and more likely, a year in the county jail with probation.

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