## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-24-2015

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP953-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HENRY J. BLOEDORN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court correctly denied Henry Bloedorn's motion to withdraw his guilty plea because he received effective assistance of trial counsel.

### A. Applicable legal standards.

"In general a circuit court should freely allow a defendant to withdraw his plea *prior to sentencing* for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution [would] be substantially prejudiced." *State v. Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2015 WI 73, ¶ 28, \_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_, 866 N.W.2d 717 (quoted source and quotation marks omitted) (alteration in *Ortiz-Mondragon*). "In contrast, the general rule [is] that a defendant seeking to withdraw a guilty or no contest plea *after sentencing* must prove manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence." *Id.* (quoted source and quotation marks omitted) (alteration in *Ortiz-Mondragon*). "Ineffective

assistance of counsel is one type of manifest injustice." *Id.* (citation omitted).

"The clear and convincing standard for plea withdrawal after sentencing, which is higher than the 'fair and just' standard before sentencing, 'reflects the State's interest in the finality of convictions, and reflects the fact that the presumption of innocence no longer exists." Id., ¶ 29 (quoted source and quotation marks omitted). "The higher burden is a deterrent to defendants testing the waters for possible punishments." Id. (quoted source and quotation marks omitted). "Disappointment in the eventual punishment does not rise to the level of a manifest injustice." *Id.* (quoted source and quotation marks omitted).

A defendant who asserts a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel must demonstrate: (1) trial counsel rendered deficient performance; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, "the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard reasonableness." Id. at 688. "[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. at 689. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." Id. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." State v.

Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (quoted source and quotation marks omitted).

To prove prejudice, "the defendant must show that [counsel's deficient performance] actually had an adverse effect on the defense." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. "It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." Id. "The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient toundermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694. "In the context of guilty pleas," "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985). To prove that counsel's deficient performance during a sentencing hearing was prejudicial, a defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that the court would have imposed a lesser sentence absent the deficient performance. See State v. Pote, 2003 WI App 31, ¶ 16, 260 Wis. 2d 426, 659 N.W.2d 82; State v. Voss, 205 Wis. 2d 586, 597-98, 556 N.W.2d 433 (Ct. App. 1996); State v. Giebel, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 219, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995); see also Glover v. United States, 531 U.S. 198, 202-04 (2001).

"The defendant has the burden of proof on both components" of the *Strickland* test, that is, deficient performance and prejudice. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). If a defendant fails to prove one prong of the *Strickland* test, a court need not consider the other prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of fact and law." State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695 (citations omitted). A reviewing court "will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. (citation omitted). "Findings of fact include the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." Id. (quoted source and quotation marks omitted). Further, a reviewing "court will not exclude the circuit court's articulated assessments of credibility and demeanor, unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. (citation omitted). "However, the ultimate determination of whether counsel's assistance was ineffective is a question of law, which [a court] review[s] de novo." Id. (citation omitted).

## B. Attorney Kratz did not perform deficiently.

Bloedorn first argues that Attorney Kratz failed to adequately advise him regarding the evidence and potential evidence in this case, defense strategy, and possible prison sentences (Bloedorn's Br. at 12-16). He next argues that Attorney Kratz performed deficiently by allowing a

presentence investigation (PSI) to continue while Bloedorn was considering whether to withdraw his guilty plea (Bloedorn's Br. at 17-19). Finally, Bloedorn argues that Attorney Kratz failed to properly argue for a reasonable prison sentence (Bloedorn's Br. at 20-23). Bloedorn is wrong on all fronts.

# 1. Attorney Kratz adequately advised Bloedorn regarding evidence, defense strategy, and possible sentences.

First, with respect to advising Bloedorn about evidence, Attorney Kratz obtained discovery from the State and reviewed all of it (88:43). He also reviewed all of it with Bloedorn (88:43). Attorney Kratz did not provide the discovery materials to Bloedorn because Bloedorn never asked for them (88:43). However, Attorney Kratz and Bloedorn "spent many, many hours going over the evidence and the potential gaps in the evidence" (88:43). The meeting that Attorney Kratz had with Bloedorn on October 14, 2013, "was almost specifically directed towards the evidence and directed towards whether [Attorney Kratz] was going to file a Fifth or Sixth Amendment challenge to Mr. Bloedorn's statements" to the police (88:60). Bloedorn offered no evidence at the *Machner* hearing to directly contradict Attorney Kratz's testimony that he extensively reviewed the evidence with Bloedorn.

Second, Attorney Kratz thoroughly explained defense strategy to Bloedorn throughout the pendency of this case. As Attorney Kratz explained at the *Machner* hearing:

[E]arly on in this case I told Mr. Bloedorn that there are two different ways to attack a case like this. Number one is an eye towards litigation, that is an eye towards a jury trial; and number two is an eye towards a negotiated resolution. I told him back in September [2013] when we first met that although we did not have to set on a strategy at that time, . . . I at least wanted his initial opinion whether he thought that the matter should go to trial or whether he wanted the matter resolved.

(88:44.)

Attorney Kratz further testified that "Bloedorn and [Attorney Kratz] decided that the initial strategy, or at least until [they] changed [their] mind[s], was going to have an eye towards resolution, that is to a negotiated resolution of this case rather than a jury trial" (88:44). Attorney Kratz had told Bloedorn, however, that he would "continue to keep all of [Bloedorn's] options open and . . . review all the evidence and review whether there were any suppression or other motions available that would be of benefit" (88:44-45).

On October 14, 2013, Attorney Kratz, Bloedorn, and Laura met for an initial "strategy meeting" (88:57). Attorney Kratz testified that it "was a very, very extensive long meeting where [they] developed [their] initial defense strategy, where [they] decided whether [they] were going to have a psychosexual eval[uation] done, [and] whether or not [Bloedorn] was going to waive the prelim[inary examination]" (88:57). After Attorney Kratz discussed "some

of the evidence and likely evidence that was going to be presented against [Bloedorn]," they discussed "what [they] were going to do" (88:57). At that meeting, Attorney Kratz told Bloedorn that, at that time, the district attorney was going to recommend a prison sentence (88:57). They had "talked already about the possibility of electronic of monitoring. what some the other dispositional alternatives might be, and some other concerns that [Bloedorn] had" (88:57).

Attorney Kratz and Bloedorn held more strategy meetings in subsequent months. On November 11, 2013, about a month after their initial strategy meeting, Attorney Kratz and Bloedorn "had a very lengthy strategy meeting" (88:60-61). About another month later, they met for their "next strategy meeting" (88:61). They met again on January 21, 2014, to discuss the possibility of pleading guilty (88:62-63). At this meeting, Attorney Kratz discussed the possibility of filing "Miranda, Shiffra, or Allen motions" (88:63).8 Bloedorn decided not to pursue any of those motions after consulting with Attorney Kratz regarding the advantages and disadvantages of each of those motions (88:63-64). In particular, Attorney Kratz advised Bloedorn that an Allen motion could "re-victimize" N.T.K. and therefore could hurt Bloedorn's chances of receiving

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966); State v. Shiffra, 175
Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993); State v. Allen, 2004 WI
106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

probation (88:63-64). Bloedorn offered no evidence at the *Machner* hearing to directly contradict Attorney Kratz's testimony that he extensively discussed defense strategy with Bloedorn.<sup>9</sup>

Third and finally, Attorney Kratz adequately explained to Bloedorn the possible prison sentences that he faced. Attorney Kratz testified at the *Machner* hearing that he twice went over the plea questionnaire form with Bloedorn (88:73). He further testified that he told Bloedorn that the circuit court was not bound by any plea agreement or recommendation, Bloedorn was aware of the maximum possible penalties, and Bloedorn was aware that the State was not going to make a specific sentence recommendation (88:73-74).

At the *Machner* hearing, Attorney Kratz specifically recalled that before Bloedorn first pled guilty on February 12, 2014, Attorney Kratz had "told him that the judge could sentence him up to the maximum potential penalty for the offense for which he was entering a plea" (88:12-13). Attorney Kratz had told Bloedorn that "this was a prison case" (88:13). Attorney Kratz had reminded him that their strategy since September 2013, when Bloedorn

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Laura testified at the *Machner* hearing that Attorney Kratz did not discuss motions in her presence (88:90-91). However, Laura did *not* testify that Attorney Kratz never discussed defense strategy with Bloedorn (*see* 88:82-94). Laura had no firsthand knowledge of whether any defense strategy discussions occurred at all because she was absent from many of Bloedorn's meetings with Attorney Kratz (88:85, 90).

hired Attorney Kratz, was for Bloedorn to plead guilty and "ask for an imposed and stayed prison sentence with probation and up to a year in the county jail" (88:13). Bloedorn offered no evidence at the *Machner* hearing to directly contradict Attorney Kratz's testimony that he advised Bloedorn regarding potential sentences.<sup>10</sup>

Bloedorn relies primarily on Laura's *Machner* hearing testimony that Attorney Kratz's meetings with Bloedorn were short (Bloedorn's Br. at 12-16). However, at the conclusion of the *Machner* hearing, the circuit court accepted Attorney Kratz's testimony and rejected Laura's testimony (see 88:103-110; R-Ap. 103-10). It was not clearly erroneous for the circuit court to accept Attorney Kratz's testimony over Laura's. Indeed, Bloedorn does not even argue that the circuit court made any clearly erroneous findings.

In particular, the circuit court wisely accepted Attorney Kratz's testimony regarding the length of his meetings with Bloedorn (see 88:107; R-Ap. 107). Attorney Kratz's *Machner* hearing testimony was largely based on his "very detailed notes" (88:52-54; see also 88:103, 107; R-Ap.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Laura testified at the *Machner* hearing that Attorney Kratz did not tell her that he was going to recommend an imposed and stayed sentence of fifteen years of initial confinement (88:90). Laura also offered vague testimony that she thought Bloedorn was facing nine years in prison, but she probably meant that she knew the PSI report recommended nine years (see 88:88). In any event, Laura did not testify that Attorney Kratz never advised Bloedorn regarding potential sentences (see 88:82-94). Laura had no firsthand knowledge of whether Bloedorn was advised at all about potential sentences because she was (continued on next page)

103, 107). Laura, on the other hand, testified that she was unsure of how many meetings Attorney Kratz had with Bloedorn, when the meetings took place, and how many of them she attended (88:83, 92). She initially stated that she attended every meeting between Bloedorn and Attorney Kratz except for a meeting on October 30, 2013 (88:85). However, she later admitted that she was also absent from all of the meetings at the jail, which took place in February, March, and April of 2014 (88:66, 69, 70-71, 90). She also admitted that she did not know how long the jail meetings lasted (88:88). She gave several different answers when asked how long the longest meeting was that she attended (88:86, 87, 90).<sup>11</sup>

The foregoing discussion shows that Attorney Kratz adequately advised Bloedorn regarding the evidence and potential evidence in this case, defense strategy, and potential sentences. Bloedorn has not offered any evidence to directly contradict those conclusions.

\_

absent from many of Bloedorn's meetings with Attorney Kratz (88:85, 90).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> When asked how long the longest meeting with Attorney Kratz was, Laura said fifteen or twenty minutes at the most; ten to fifteen minutes at the most; "[l]ike I said, five or ten minutes at the most"; and, "[l]ike I said, five minutes at the most" (88:86, 87, 90).

**2**. Attorney Kratz properly allowed the presentence investigation continue. adequately advised Bloedorn about it. and properly declined  $\mathbf{to}$ seek an alternative presentence investigation.

Bloedorn next argues that Attorney Kratz performed deficiently by "continuing to move forward with the P.S.I. after the receipt of the letters from [Bloedorn] indicating his confusion and reluctance with regard to his plea" (Bloedorn's Br. at 18). Bloedorn is wrong. He never says what Attorney Kratz could have done to stop the PSI from moving forward. Bloedorn recognizes that "the court ordered a presentence investigation" (Bloedorn's Br. at 17; see also 24:1). Attorney Kratz did not have the legal authority to stop a court-ordered PSI from moving forward. Although "no law in Wisconsin requires a defendant to cooperate with the PSI writer, . . . a PSI can be written without the defendant's cooperation." State v. Hess, 2009 WI App 105, ¶ 12, 320 Wis. 2d 600, 770 N.W.2d 769, aff'd, 2010 WI 82, 327 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 568.

Perhaps the PSI would have stopped if Bloedorn withdrew his plea, but that was not Attorney Kratz's decision to make. Bloedorn decided not to withdraw his plea. He stated at the April 7, 2014 hearing, "I don't want a trial"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> One term of the State's plea offer was that the State "will ask for a pre-sentence investigation" (81:16).

(78:15). He reaffirmed his plea by entering an Alford plea on May 2, 2014 (80:29).

Bloedorn next argues that Attorney Kratz performed deficiently because he "allowed [Bloedorn] to complete a presentence investigation without proper guidance" (Bloedorn's Br. at 19). Bloedorn is wrong. He acknowledges that Attorney Kratz testified at the *Machner* hearing that he "discussed the P.S.I. process throughout his representation" (Bloedorn's Br. at 18).

Indeed, Attorney Kratz advised Bloedorn in detail about the PSI process. On February 26, 2014, Attorney Kratz met with Bloedorn at the jail and "discussed the PSI process" with him (88:16). Attorney Kratz testified at the *Machner* hearing that

[b]efore Mr. Bloedorn talked to the presentence writer, [he and Attorney Kratz] went over in detail what it is that he would say to that presentence writer and [Attorney Kratz's] admonition to him on specifically what he should not say to the presentence writer, specifically in the areas of victim blaming[.]

(88:19).

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